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NO. JEFFERSON CIRCUIT COURT
DIVISION __________

JUDGE ______________________

ELECTRONICALLY FILED

INSTITUTE FOR JUSTICE
901 N. Glebe Road
Arlington, VA  22203

PLAINTIFF

v. COMPLAINT

BRANDON COAN, in his capacity as 
Louisville Metro Councilmember
Metro Council District 8
601 W. Jefferson Street
Louisville, KY  40202

PAT MULVIHILL, in his capacity as Louisville 
Metro Councilmember
Metro Council District 10
601 W. Jefferson Street 
Louisville, KY  40202

SCOTT REED, in his capacity as Louisville 
Metro Councilmember
Metro Council District 16
601 W. Jefferson Street
Louisville, KY  40202

BARBARA SEXTON-SMITH, in her capacity 
as Louisville Metro Councilmember
Metro Council District 4
601 W. Jefferson Street
Louisville, KY  40202

DEFENDANTS

Plaintiff Institute for Justice, by counsel, and for its Complaint against Defendants 

Louisville Metro Councilmembers, as defined below, in this action states as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. This is a civil action for a declaratory action, injunctive relief and statutory 

damages brought by the Institute for Justice (“IJ” or “Plaintiff”), a non-profit that has represented 
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certain food-truck operators in Louisville, based on the non-compliance of certain Louisville 

Metro Councilmembers violation of Kentucky’s Open Records Act, KRS 61.870 to KRS 61.844 

(the “Open Records Act”) and the Kentucky Attorney General’s Open Records Decision, 19-

ORD-084, issued on May 9, 2019 and attached hereto as Exhibit A.

2. Prior to filing this lawsuit, IJ challenged the constitutionality of Louisville-

Metro’s 150-food proximity restriction, which made it illegal for food trucks to vend within 150-

feet of restaurants that sold similar food absent those restaurants’ permission.  In response to the 

lawsuit, Louisville Metro repealed the restriction and signed a Consent Decree that required 

Louisville Metro not to discriminate against food trucks or otherwise treat them differently than 

other commercial vehicles.

3. Several months after entering into the Consent Decree, though, four 

Councilmembers proposed a new vending ordinance that would stifle food truck operators.  IJ 

sent open records requests to the four Councilmembers, who then refused to turn over any 

documents.  After the Kentucky Attorney General found that refusal to be improper in part, each 

Councilmember still refused to produce any documents. This lawsuit seeks to enforce the 

Attorney General’s opinion and obtain the requested documents.

PARTIES

4. Plaintiff Institute for Justice (“IJ”) is a foreign 501(c)(3) non-profit corporation 

with its principal office based out of Arlington, Virginia.

5. Arif Panju is a resident of Texas and is a Managing Attorney at the Institute for 

Justice.

6. Defendant Brandon Coan (“Coan”) is a Louisville Metro Councilmember and as 

an individual member of a municipal council is a “public agency” under KRS 61.970(1)(a) for 

purposes of the Open Records Act.
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7. Defendant Pat Mulvihill (“Mulvihill”) is a Louisville Metro Councilmember and 

as an individual member of a municipal council is a “public agency” under KRS 61.970(1)(a) for 

purposes of the Open Records Act.

8. Defendant Scott Reed (“Reed”) is a Louisville Metro Councilmember and as an 

individual member of a municipal council is a “public agency” under KRS 61.970(1)(a) for 

purposes of the Open Records Act.

9. Defendant Barbara Sexton-Smith (“Sexton-Smith”) is a Louisville Metro 

Councilmember and as an individual member of a municipal council is a “public agency” under 

KRS 61.970(1)(a) for purposes of the Open Records Act.

10. A courtesy copy of this Complaint will be provided to Hon. Andy Beshear, 

Attorney General, Office of the Attorney General, 700 Capitol Avenue, Suite 118, Frankfort, 

Kentucky, 40601-3449.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

11. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action to grant the relief 

sought herein pursuant to KRS 61.880(5)(a) and KRS 61.882.

12. Venue over this action lies with this Court pursuant to KRS 61.882 because the 

public records at dispute in this action are maintained in Jefferson County, Kentucky.

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF RELIEF REQUESTED

13. On June 18, 2018, Louisville Metro entered into the Consent Decree in response 

to a lawsuit filed by IJ on behalf of its clients that operate food-trucks in the Louisville Metro in 

the United States District Court of the Western District of Kentucky.  See also, King v. 

Lousiville/Jefferson Cty. Metro Gov’t Civ. No. 3:17-cv-00390-DHL-CHL [ECF No. 25].  See

Exhibit B.  The Consent Decree, among other things, provided that Louisville Metro would not 

unconstitutionally discriminate against food-truck vendors and, for the next five years, would 
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notify IJ before promulgating an administrative rule or ordinance addressing food-truck 

operations.

14. On or around October 10, 2018, Louisville Metro CouncilmembersCoan, 

Mulvihill, Reed and Sexton-Smith (collectively referred to as the “Councilmembers” or 

individually as a “Councilmember”) proposed an ordinance O-347-18 that, among other things, 

regulates food-truck operations.

15. On or around October 11, 2018, IJ mailed a letter to Mayor of Louisville, Gregory 

Fischer (the “Letter”), indicating that the proposed ordinance O-347-18 would violate the 

Consent Decree that Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government (“Louisville Metro”) had 

just entered.  See Letter attached as Exhibit C.  

16. Plaintiff received no response to the Letter.

17. On or around November 1, 2018, Arif Panju, on behalf of IJ, requested from each 

Councilmember copies of certain records relating to proposed Louisville Ordinance O-347-18 

(the “IJ Open Records Request”) under the Open Records Act.  See IJ Open Records Request, 

attached as Exhibit D. 

18. The IJ Open Records Request specifically sought the following:

1. Copies of all documents and communications concerning (or referencing) the 
proposed ordinance 0-347-18.

2. Copies of all documents reflecting communications (sent or received by you or 
your staff) between June 1, 2017 and November l, 2018 containing any of the 
following words: (1) "food truck"; (2) "food trucks"; (3) "vendor"; (4) "vendors"; 
(5) "vending"; (6) "restaurant"; or (7) "restaurants."

3. Copies of all documents concerning (or referencing) the Louisville Downtown 
Partnership containing any of [those terms].

4. Copies of all documents and communications to or from the Louisville 
Downtown Partnership (including to or from any of its representatives ·or 
employees) containing any of [those terms].
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5. All documents and communications concerning or referencing the "No Food 
Trucks" signs authorized and/ or installed by Louisville Metro in 2017.

See Exhibit A, p. 2.

19. On or around November 12, 2018, the Councilmembers untimely responded to 

IJ’s Open Records Request stating that the responsive records would be available on December 

7, 2018.  See Exhibit A, pp 2-3.

20. The Councilmembers did not respond to IJ’s Open Records Request on December 

7, 2018.    Instead, on December 7, 2018, the Metro Council Clerk denied IJ’s Open Records 

Request in its entirety stating that under the “electronic search utilizing the search terms you 

provided, approximately 8,300 records were uncovered.” See Exhibit A, p. 3.

21. On or around April 5, 2019, Arif Panju, on behalf of IJ, appealed the 

Councilmembers’ denial of IJ’s Open Records Request (the “Appeal”) to the Kentucky Attorney 

General.  See Appeal to Attorney General, attached as Exhibit E.

22. Under KRS 61.880(5), the Kentucky Attorney General has the statutory authority 

to issue legally binding decisions in disputes under the open records and open meetings laws. 

23. On May 9, 2019, in response to the Appeal, the Kentucky Attorney General 

issued its Open Records Decision, 19-ORD-084 (the “AG Decision”).  See Exhibit A.

24. The AG Decision provided that the Councilmembers improperly denied part two 

of IJ’s Open Records Request and “did violate the Act by denying a request for all 

communications including certain terms within a specific date range that gave a sufficiently 
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precise description and did not pose an unreasonable burden on councilmembers under KRS 

61.872(6).”  See Exhibit A, pg. 1.1

25. On May 16, 2019, IJ provided each Councilmember a copy of the AG Decision 

and requested compliance with the IJ Open Records Request pursuant to the AG Decision.  See

Letter Notifying Councilmembers of AG Decision, attached as Exhibit F.  The Councilmembers 

each received a copy of the letter via UPS.  See UPS Receipt Confirmation, attached as Exhibit 

G.

26. On May 19, 2019 Councilmember Mulvihill provided a response to the AG 

Decision stating he would comply with the Open Records Request in accordance with the AG 

Decision.  See Mulvihill Response, Exhibit H. However, as of the date of this Complaint, not 

one document has been produced.  See Affidavit of Arif Panju, attached hereto as Exhibit I.

27. Pursuant to KRS 61.880(5)(b), the Councilmembers had thirty (30) days from the 

May 9, 2019 AG Decision to appeal, the Councilmembers thus had until June 8, 2019, to file an 

appeal or respond to IJ’s Open Record Request.  

28. The Councilmembers did not file an appeal to the AG Decision.

29. As of the date of this Complaint, the Councilmembers have willfully failed to 

respond or provide any documents responsive to IJ’s Open Record Request, despite previously 

admitting that over 8,300 responsive documents exist. See Exhibit I.

30. On information and belief, the Councilmembers are continuing to move forward 

with passing O-347-18 while refusing to provide any access to the documents that the 

Councilmembers have considered in passing such ordinance. 

                                                
1 As put forth in the AG Decision, certain parts of the IJ Open Records Request was denied.  Therefore, this 
Complaint only seeks to enforce part two of the IJ Open Records Request, that was improperly denied in accordance 
with the AG Decision.
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COUNT I – ENFORCEMENT OF OPEN RECORDS DECISION 19-ORD-084

31. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the paragraphs above.

32. The AG Decision required the Councilmembers to provide Plaintiff records 

reflecting communications between June 1, 2017 and November 1, 2018 containing any of the 

following words: (1) “food truck” (2) “food trucks”, (3) vendor, (4) vendors, (5) “vending”, (6) 

“restaurant”, or (7) “restaurants” (collectively, the “Responsive Documents”).  See Exhibit A, pp 

1-2.

33. The Councilmembers failed to timely appeal the AG Decision and thus should 

have produced all Responsive Documents by June 8, 2019.

34. AG Decision 19-ORD-084 has the force and effect of law and is enforceable by 

this Court.

35. Pursuant to KRS 61.882(1), this Court has jurisdiction to enforce the Open 

Records Act, including the AG’s Decision, against the Councilmembers by injunction or other 

appropriate order compelling the Councilmembers to provide the Responsive Documents.

36. The Plaintiff’s rights are being violated by the Councilmembers’ failure to 

provide access to the requested public records, and Plaintiff is currently suffering and will 

continue to suffer, immediate and irreparable injury, loss or damage if the requested relief is not 

granted.

37. Kentucky law provides that violations under the Open Records Act should “take 

precedence on the docket over all other causes and shall be assigned for hearing and trial at the 

earliest practicable date.” KRS 61.882(4).

COUNT II – STATUTORY DAMAGES 

38. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the paragraphs above.
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39. The Councilmembers have admitted that they have in their possession 

approximately 8,300 documents responsive to IJ’s Open Records Request.  See Exhibit A.  

However, the Councilmembers have failed to produce even one document in response to IJ’s 

Open Record Request and the AG Decision.  See Exhibit I.

40. Plaintiff has been unlawfully denied access to public records.  

41. Despite notice of 19-ORD-084 and continued demands that the Councilmembers 

produce the documents they are required to under the law, the Councilmembers have continued 

to willfully disregard the AG Decision by withholding public records.  See Exhibit F and G.

42. Plaintiff has had to expend resources, including the cost of filing this Complaint, 

in order to enforce the Open Records Act and AG Decision.

43. Pursuant to KRS 61.882(5), the Councilmembers are liable, jointly and severally, 

for statutory damages and reasonable costs and attorney fees incurred.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that the Court enter an Order:

1. An expedited hearing on this matter at the earliest practicable date;

2. A declaration that the Councilmembers willfully withheld records in violation of 

KRS 61.870 through 61.884.

3. Declaring that the Councilmembers must immediately produce the documents 

requested in the IJ Open Records Request in compliance with the AG Decision;

4. Awarding statutory fees and attorney fees;

5. All other relief the Court finds appropriate.
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Respectfully submitted,

/s/ April A. Wimberg
April A. Wimberg (KBA #95741)
Brent Baughman (KBA # 83469)
BINGHAM GREENEBAUM DOLL LLP
3500 PNC Tower
101 South Fifth Street
Louisville, Kentucky 40202
Telephone:  (502) 589-4200
Facsimile:  (502) 587-3695
E-mail:  awimberg@bgdlegal.com

  bbaughman@bgdlegal.com

COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF
INSTITUTE FOR JUSTICE
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EXHIBIT LIST

EXHIBIT A Kentucky Attorney General’s Open Records Decision, 19-ORD-084, 
issued on May 9, 2019

EXHIBIT B Louisville Metro Consent Decree

EXHIBIT C Letter Notifying Ordinance May Violate Consent Decree

EXHIBIT D IJ Open Records Request

EXHIBIT E Appeal to Attorney General

EXHIBIT F Letter Notifying Councilmembers of AG Decision

EXHIBIT G UPS Receipt Confirmation

EXHIBIT H Mulvihill Response

EXHIBIT I Affidavit of Arif Panju
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King et al. v. Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government 
Consent Decree 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY 

LOUISVILLE DIVISION 
 

TROY KING and ROBERT MARTIN, 
 
                  Plaintiffs, 
v. 
 
 
LOUISVILLE/JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO 
GOVERNMENT, 
 
                  Defendant. 

 
 
 
 
 
Civil Action No. 3:17-CV-390-DJH-CHL 

 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

 
CONSENT DECREE 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 This Consent Decree is made and agreed upon by and between Troy King and Robert 

Martin (“Plaintiffs”) and the Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government (“Louisville 

Metro”).  Plaintiffs and Louisville Metro shall jointly be referred to as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, on June 28, 2017, Plaintiffs filed suit against Louisville Metro in the case 

captioned King, et al. v. Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government, in the United States 

District Court for the Western District of Kentucky, Louisville Division, under docket number 

3:17-CV-390 (“Litigation”).  The Litigation raised claims that Louisville/Jefferson County Metro 

Government Code of Ordinances (“LMCO”) § 115.369(E) violates Plaintiffs’ rights under the 

Due Process, Equal Protection, and Privileges or Immunities Clauses of the Fourteenth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution.  The allegations in Plaintiffs’ Complaint, which 

was served on Louisville Metro on June 29, 2017, are incorporated herein by reference.  In the 

Litigation, Plaintiffs sought a declaratory judgment that LMCO § 115.369(E), facially and as 
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applied to Plaintiffs, violates the Fourteenth Amendment; Plaintiffs also sought a permanent 

injunction, attorneys’ fees, costs, and nominal damages in the amount of $1 to each Plaintiff for 

the alleged violations of their constitutional rights;  

 WHEREAS, Louisville Metro filed and served its Answer to Plaintiffs’ Complaint on 

August 3, 2017, disputing Plaintiffs’ claims, said responses of which are incorporated herein by 

reference; 

 WHEREAS, in order to resolve their differences, the Parties have agreed that it is 

reasonable and necessary to enter into this Consent Decree. 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED PURSUANT TO AGREEMENT OF 
THE PARTIES AS FOLLOWS: 

 
1. It is stipulated and agreed that an actual case and controversy exists sufficient to enter the 

instant Consent Decree. 

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343, 2201, 

2202 and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

3. Venue lies in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391. 

4. The Parties recognize, and, by entering this Consent Decree, this Court finds that this 

Consent Decree has been negotiated by the Parties in good faith and that it is fair, 

reasonable, adequate, and in the public interest. 

5. It is stipulated and agreed that Plaintiffs’ food truck businesses, and all other food trucks 

that operate on public and private property, are considered “mobile food unit vendors” 

under the Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government Code of Ordinances, see 

LMCO § 115.350(G), and that they do not fall within the scope of any other category of 
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regulated vendors (including but not limited to the categories of “itinerant vendor,” 

“mobile vendor,” “peddler,” and/or “stationary vendor”).  

6. It is stipulated and agreed that, until LMCO § 115.369(E) is repealed, Louisville Metro, 

its employees, agents, representatives, and successors, will not enforce LMCO 

§ 115.369(E).   

7. It is stipulated and agreed that Louisville Metro, its employees, agents, representatives, 

and successors hereby agree that they will not now or hereafter enforce any of its 

ordinances, administrative rules, or policies in a manner that is inconsistent with this 

Consent Decree, or that treats mobile food unit vendors differently than other commercial 

vehicles permitted or otherwise allowed in Louisville Metro’s rights of way.  These 

entities will not enforce any ordinances, administrative rules, or policies in a manner that 

prohibits mobile food unit vendors from conducting vending operations solely because 

they are within a certain distance of another commercial food establishment, including 

but not limited to restaurants, cafés, or other eating establishments.  Louisville Metro’s 

rights to govern its restaurants, roads and rights of way to protect public safety, 

convenience, or health remains unaffected by this Consent Decree. 

8. Louisville Metro, its employees, agents, representatives, and successors hereby agree to 

not promulgate or enforce any regulation, rule, ordinance, or policy that prohibits mobile 

food unit vendors from conducting vending operations solely because they are within a 

certain distance of another commercial food establishment, including but not limited to 

restaurants, cafés, or other eating establishments. 

9. For a period of time of five years following the entry of this Consent Decree, prior to 

promulgating an administrative rule, or voting on any amendment to LMCO Chapter 
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115.369 or other ordinance addressing vending operations conducted by mobile food unit 

vendors, Louisville Metro will provide Plaintiffs’ counsel with 30-day notice of such 

rules, proposed amendments, or ordinances.  Plaintiffs may then take appropriate steps 

pursuant to paragraph 15 of this Consent Decree to voice their concerns.   

10. Louisville Metro agrees to remove all street signage containing the words “No Food 

Trucks” (or variations of the same message) immediately upon entry of this Consent 

Decree, and to cease installing any new street signage containing the words “No Food 

Trucks” (or variations of the same message). 

11. Louisville Metro agrees to dismiss any pending tickets issued to mobile food unit vendors 

for alleged violations based solely on  LMCO § 115.369(E). 

12. Louisville Metro agrees to not consider past violations of LMCO § 115.369(E) when 

issuing or renewing mobile food unit vending licenses. 

13. Louisville Metro understands, once entered, this Consent Decree will become a public 

record, and Louisville Metro will post this Consent Decree and the ordinance repealing 

LMCO § 115.369(E) on its website. 

EFFECTIVE DATE 

14. This Consent Decree shall be effective the date this Court enters it as recorded on this 

Court’s docket. 

ENFORCEMENT 

15. If Plaintiffs reasonably believe that Louisville Metro is not in substantial compliance with 

the terms of this Consent Decree, Plaintiffs’ counsel shall, by written notice, call a 

meeting with counsel for Louisville Metro to be held at a mutually agreeable time and 
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place within thirty (30) days of the request to discuss and attempt to resolve the dispute.  

Counsel for Louisville Metro shall attend such a meeting. 

16. In the event that counsel for Louisville Metro and counsel for Plaintiffs cannot come to 

an agreement that resolves the claimed violations, Plaintiffs may move this Court, 

pursuant to Rule 70 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure or any other applicable rule 

or procedure, for an order enforcing the provisions of this Consent Decree and any other 

enforcement and implementation mechanisms as may be necessary or appropriate.  If this 

Court issues such an order, this Court may, in its discretion, award Plaintiffs’ counsel 

their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs associated with obtaining such an order. 

17. This Consent Decree constitutes final relief entered by this Court and is enforceable 

through this Court’s contempt powers.  This Court shall retain jurisdiction over this 

matter for all purposes and may issue such orders as may be necessary or appropriate to 

enforce this Consent Decree. 

18. The Parties may jointly agree to make changes, modifications, and amendments to this 

Consent Decree, which shall be effective if approved by this Court. 

19. The Parties agree to defend the provisions of this Consent Decree.  Each party shall 

notify the other of any legal challenge to this Consent Decree, whether such challenge 

arises in a court, an administrative proceeding, or otherwise.  If any provision of this 

Consent Decree is challenged in any state or municipal court, the Parties shall agree to 

consent to removal to Federal Court. 

20. Louisville Metro shall require compliance with this Consent Decree by its respective 

officers, employees, agents, agencies, representatives, assigns, or successors.                            

         

Case 3:17-cv-00390-DJH-CHL   Document 25   Filed 06/18/18   Page 5 of 6 PageID #: 92

E
X

H
 :

 0
00

00
6 

o
f 

00
00

07
P

re
si

d
in

g
 J

u
d

g
e:

 H
O

N
. B

A
R

R
Y

 W
IL

L
E

T
T

 (
63

01
75

)
00

00
06

 o
f 

00
00

07

Filed 19-CI-004289     07/16/2019 David L. Nicholson, Jefferson Circuit Clerk

Filed 19-CI-004289     07/16/2019 David L. Nicholson, Jefferson Circuit Clerk

9B
8A

3C
9C

-E
60

6-
4E

D
C

-A
72

B
-1

7A
25

25
92

C
3F

 :
 0

00
02

4 
o

f 
00

01
51



King et al. v. Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government 
Consent Decree 
 6 
 

SO ORDERED: 

        __________________________ 
        David J. Hale 

U.S. District Court Judge  
         

        Date:______________________ 
 
 
 
 
Stipulated and Agreed to: 
 
/s/ Arif Panju                                                              /s/ Matthew J. Golden 
Arif Panju* (TX Bar No. 24070380)                         Matthew J. Golden 
INSTITUTE FOR JUSTICE     Assistant County Attorney 
816 Congress Ave., Suite 960    Fiscal Court Building 
Austin, TX 78701     531 Court Place, Suite 900 
(512) 480-5936     Louisville, KY 40202 
(512) 480-5937 (fax)     (502) 574-4048 
apanju@ij.org                                                matt.golden@louisvilleky.gov 
 
Counsel for Plaintiffs     Counsel for Louisville/Jefferson County 
*Admitted Pro Hac Vice    Metro Government 
 

June 15, 2018

United States District Court
David J. Hale, Judge
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INSTITUTE JlOR JUSTICE 

Mayor Greg Fischer 
527 W. Jefferson Street, 4th Floor 
Louisville, KY 40202 

Re: Ordinance 0-374-18 

Dear Mayor Fischer, 

October 11, 2018 

I write today concerning a proposed ordinance that would greatly restrict vending 
opportunities in Louisville, Kentucky, and that violates a federal consent decree Louisville Metro 
entered into in June. As you may be aware, the Institute for Justice ("IJ") is a public interest, 
civil liberties law firm that works to vindicate economic liberty-the right to earn an honest 
living. IJ's National Street Vending Initiative works with city officials to reform local laws and 
has also sued municipalities to challenge laws that unconstitutionally restrict vendors' rights. 

As part of that effort, in June 2017, IJ sued Louisville Metro in federal court concerning 
its requirement, contained in LMCO § 115.369(E), that food trucks not operate within 150 feet of 
a restaurant without permission. In response, Louisville repealed LMCO § l 15.369(E) and 
entered into a consent decree (attached to this cotTespondence) requiring, among other things, 
that Louisville not disadvantage mobile vendors by treating them differently than other 
commercial vehicles, which are permitted to park at public parking spaces as part of conducting 
their trade. See Consent Decree iJ 7, King v. Louisville/Jefferson Cty. Metro Gov 't, Civ. A No. 
3:17-cv-00390-DJH-CHL (June 18, 2018) (ECF No. 25) (requiring Louisville not to "treat[] 
mobile food unit vendors differently than other commercial vehicles permitted or otherwise 
allowed in Louisville Metro's rights of way"). This consent decree is legally binding, and 
violations of it can be enforced through the federal district court's contempt power. 

The proposed ordinance that is scheduled to be introduced today would violate that 
consent decree by greatly restricting vending operations and treating mobile vendors differently 
from other commercial vehicles. It does so in three distinct ways. 

First, the proposed ordinance would prohibit mobile vendors from parking in a metered 
parking space in order to vend. Ordinance 0-374-18, §I (amending LMCO § 72.803). It 
therefore treats vendors differently than other commercial vehicles, which can park in a space as 
part of their commercial enterprise. For instance, a UPS truck can park in a metered parking 
space so that its driver can pick up or deliver packages, just as a repair truck can park in a 
metered parking space so that the repairperson has a base of operations during his or her repair 
job. 

ARLlNGTON AUSTIN BELLEVUE CHTC.\GO M !AMI MlNNEAPOLlS TEMPE 

816 Congress Avenue, Suite 960 Austin, TX 78701 (512) 480-5936 (512) 480-5937 Fax 
general@ij.org www.ij.org/texas 
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Mayor Greg Fischer 
October 11, 2018 
Page 2 

Second, the proposed ordinance would eliminate the authority of the Assistant Director of 
PARC from issuing "meter bags," permits that authorize the holder to cover a parking meter 
temporarily for various purposes, including "construction or maintenance work." Again, this 
elimination treats mobile vendors differently than other commercial vehicles, such as the repair 
trucks discussed above, and deprives vendors of a valuable parking option that is available for 
numerous other commercial vehicles. 

Third, the proposed ordinance rewrites Louisville Metro's municipal code concerning 
vendors. It eliminates a previous legal classification, used in the consent decree, of "mobile food 
unit vendor," instead combining all mobile vendors under one label in violation of the consent 
decree. See Consent Decree~ 5 (stipulating that food trucks are "mobile food unit vendors" 
under the LMCO and "do not fall within the scope of any other category of regulated vendors" 
including "itinerant vendor" and "mobile vendor," among others). The proposed ordinance then 
severely restricts the operations of "mobile vendors" by imposing requirements not shared by 
other commercial vehicles, also in violation of the consent decree. The proposed ordinance, for 
instance, would force food trucks to move at least 250 feet every ten minutes. It tells food trucks 
that they can only operate during daylight hours, as opposed to other commercial vehicles which 
can park and operate whenever they see fit. And it would ban mobile vendors, but not other 
commercial vehicles, from operating within 1,000 feet of any hospital and/or public or private 
school. 

These amendments further no health-or-safety rationale: For instance, the ordinance 
would force a gourmet food truck, with hot fryers and grills, to move every ten minutes. Far 
from making Louisville residents safer, this misguided action would endanger food truck 
operators. Furthermore, by forcing mobile vehicles to start up and move every ten minutes, 
Louisville would be creating a situation that worsens, rather than ameliorates, traffic safety. Nor 
does requiring a mobile vendor to secure the permission of any and all persons within twenty feet 
of a proposed private-property location further any interest, given that current law already 
requires the vendor to secure the signed and notarized pe1mission of the property owner. 

Instead, these legislative changes, just like the unconstitutional 150-Foot Rule IJ brought 
suit about in 2017, exhi for only one purpose: To destroy the viability of mobile vending in 
Louisville in order to serve the private, financial interests of politically-connected restaurateurs. 
But such actions violate the United States Constitution, which both the United States Supreme 
Court and the United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit have held does not 
countenance blatantly protectionist laws like the one under consideration. See, e.g., City of 
Philadelphia v. New Jersey, 437 U.S. 617, 624 (1978) ("[W]here simple economic protectionism 
is effected by state legislation, a virtually per se rule of invalidity has been erected."); Craigmiles 
v. Giles, 312 F.3d 220, 224 (6th Cir. 2002) ("Courts have repeatedly recognized that protecting a 
discrete interest group from economic competition is not a legitimate governmental purpose."). 
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Mayor Greg Fischer 
October 11, 2018 
Page 3 

These proposed legislative amendments are not just unconstitutional. They also violate, 
both in substance and procedure, the terms of the June 2018 Consent Decree entered into by 
Plaintiffs and Louisville Metro. Plaintiffs reasonably believe that, in introducing proposed 
amendments without first giving Plaintiffs' counsel 30 days of notice, as required by Section 9 of 
the Decree, and by failing to post the consent decree to its website, as required by Section 13, 
Louisville Metro has failed to maintain substantial compliance with its legal obligations. 
Plaintiffs therefore request, pursuant to Section 15 of that Decree, that the parties meet within 
thirty (30) days to attempt to resolve this ongoing dispute. They furthermore urge Louisville 
Metro to withdraw the proposed ordinance so that Metro residents can continue to decide for 
themselves whom to patronize for lunch. 

Sincerely, ,,,, .. ----------;;; 

rA - 1(: · · ~ 
~G~ 
Attorney 
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CIVIL SUMMONS

AOC-E-105           Sum Code: CI
Rev. 9-14

Commonwealth of Kentucky
Court of Justice      Courts.ky.gov

CR 4.02; Cr Official Form 1

Case #:

Court: 

County:

19-CI-004289

CIRCUIT

JEFFERSON Circuit

Plantiff, INSTITUTE FOR JUSTICE VS. COAN, BRANDON, ET AL, Defendant

The Commonwealth of Kentucky to Defendant:

     You are hereby notified that a legal action has been filed against you in this Court demanding relief as shown on 
the document delivered to you with this Summons.  Unless a written defense is made by you or by an attorney 
on your behalf within twenty (20) days following the day this paper is delivered to you, judgment by default may be 
taken against you for the relief demanded in the attached complaint.

The name(s) and address(es) of the party or parties demanding relief against you or his/her (their) attorney(s) are shown on the 
document delivered to you with this Summons.

TO: BRANDON COAN

LOUISVILLE METRO COUNCILMEMBER, DIST 8

601 W JEFFERSON ST

LOUISVILLE, KY 40202

Jefferson Circuit Clerk
 Date: 7/16/2019

Page 1 of 1

Summons ID: @00000916524  
CIRCUIT: 19-CI-004289 Certified Mail
INSTITUTE FOR JUSTICE VS. COAN, BRANDON, ET AL

Proof of Service



This Summons was:  

To:

 Not Served because:

Served by delivering a true copy and the Complaint (or other initiating document)

Date:
Served By
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AOC-E-105           Sum Code: CI
Rev. 9-14

Commonwealth of Kentucky
Court of Justice      Courts.ky.gov

CR 4.02; Cr Official Form 1

Case #:

Court: 

County:

19-CI-004289

CIRCUIT

JEFFERSON Circuit

Plantiff, INSTITUTE FOR JUSTICE VS. COAN, BRANDON, ET AL, Defendant

The Commonwealth of Kentucky to Defendant:

     You are hereby notified that a legal action has been filed against you in this Court demanding relief as shown on 
the document delivered to you with this Summons.  Unless a written defense is made by you or by an attorney 
on your behalf within twenty (20) days following the day this paper is delivered to you, judgment by default may be 
taken against you for the relief demanded in the attached complaint.

The name(s) and address(es) of the party or parties demanding relief against you or his/her (their) attorney(s) are shown on the 
document delivered to you with this Summons.

TO: PAT MULVIHILL

LOUISVILLE METRO COUNCILMEMBER, DIST 10

601 W.JEFFERSON ST.

LOUISVILLE, KY 40202

Jefferson Circuit Clerk
 Date: 7/16/2019

Page 1 of 1

Summons ID: @00000916525  
CIRCUIT: 19-CI-004289 Certified Mail
INSTITUTE FOR JUSTICE VS. COAN, BRANDON, ET AL

Proof of Service



This Summons was:  
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AOC-E-105           Sum Code: CI
Rev. 9-14

Commonwealth of Kentucky
Court of Justice      Courts.ky.gov

CR 4.02; Cr Official Form 1

Case #:

Court: 

County:

19-CI-004289

CIRCUIT

JEFFERSON Circuit

Plantiff, INSTITUTE FOR JUSTICE VS. COAN, BRANDON, ET AL, Defendant

The Commonwealth of Kentucky to Defendant:

     You are hereby notified that a legal action has been filed against you in this Court demanding relief as shown on 
the document delivered to you with this Summons.  Unless a written defense is made by you or by an attorney 
on your behalf within twenty (20) days following the day this paper is delivered to you, judgment by default may be 
taken against you for the relief demanded in the attached complaint.

The name(s) and address(es) of the party or parties demanding relief against you or his/her (their) attorney(s) are shown on the 
document delivered to you with this Summons.

TO: SCOTT REED

LOUISVILLE METRO COUNCILMEMBER, DIST 16

601 W. JEFFERSON ST

LOUISVILLE, KY 40202

Jefferson Circuit Clerk
 Date: 7/16/2019

Page 1 of 1

Summons ID: @00000916526  
CIRCUIT: 19-CI-004289 Certified Mail
INSTITUTE FOR JUSTICE VS. COAN, BRANDON, ET AL

Proof of Service



This Summons was:  

To:

 Not Served because:

Served by delivering a true copy and the Complaint (or other initiating document)

Date:
Served By
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Commonwealth of Kentucky

David L. Nicholson, Jefferson Circuit Clerk

Received From: APRIL WIMBERG Account Of: APRIL WIMBERG

Case Title: INSTITUTE FOR JUSTICE VS. COAN, BRANDON, 
ET AL

Case #: 19-CI-004289                                       Envelope #:  1766097             

Confirmation Number: 93748870

Filed On: 7/16/2019   7:59:10AM

# Item Description Amount

Access To Justice Fee $20.001

Civil Filing Fee $150.002

Money Collected For Others(Court Tech. Fee) $20.003

Library Fee $3.004

Money Collected For Others(Attorney Tax Fee) $5.005

Money Collected For Others(Postage) $65.806

Charges For Services(Copy - Photocopy) $59.207

TOTAL: $323.00

Page 1 of 1Generated: 7/16/2019 
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CIVIL SUMMONS

AOC-E-105           Sum Code: CI
Rev. 9-14

Commonwealth of Kentucky
Court of Justice      Courts.ky.gov

CR 4.02; Cr Official Form 1

Case #:

Court: 

County:

19-CI-004289

CIRCUIT

JEFFERSON Circuit

Plantiff, INSTITUTE FOR JUSTICE VS. COAN, BRANDON, ET AL, Defendant

The Commonwealth of Kentucky to Defendant:

     You are hereby notified that a legal action has been filed against you in this Court demanding relief as shown on 
the document delivered to you with this Summons.  Unless a written defense is made by you or by an attorney 
on your behalf within twenty (20) days following the day this paper is delivered to you, judgment by default may be 
taken against you for the relief demanded in the attached complaint.

The name(s) and address(es) of the party or parties demanding relief against you or his/her (their) attorney(s) are shown on the 
document delivered to you with this Summons.

TO: BARBARA SEXTON-SMITH

LOUISVILLE METRO COUNCILMEMBER, DIST 4

601 W. JEFFERSON ST

LOUISVILLE, KY 40202

Jefferson Circuit Clerk
 Date: 7/16/2019

Page 1 of 1

Summons ID: @00000916527  
CIRCUIT: 19-CI-004289 Certified Mail
INSTITUTE FOR JUSTICE VS. COAN, BRANDON, ET AL

Proof of Service



This Summons was:  

To:

 Not Served because:

Served by delivering a true copy and the Complaint (or other initiating document)

Date:
Served By
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